



# OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

## COUNTY OF SONOMA

575 ADMINISTRATION DRIVE – ROOM 104A  
SANTA ROSA, CALIFORNIA 95403-2888  
TELEPHONE (707) 565-2431  
FAX (707) 565-3778

**SHERYL BRATTON**  
COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

**CHRISTINA RIVERA**  
ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

**PETER BRULAND**  
DEPUTY COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

**CHRISTEL QUERIJERO**  
DEPUTY COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

DATE: June 15, 2021

TO: Members of the Board of Supervisors

FROM: Sheryl Bratton, County Administrator

SUBJECT: FY 2021-22 Financial Policy Updates

This tab contains updates to the County's Financial Policies, which are illustrated in track changes. The majority of changes this year are basic administrative items to clarify or update language as needed, with key items summarized below.

The Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector has completed a review of the sections of the policy relevant to their areas of responsibility.

The update this year also removes the five-year period associated with directing 40% of new property tax growth toward deferred maintenance costs for County facilities.

### Description of Key Clarification Changes

- Indicates that departments may be required to submit reduction plans if there is a decrease in net cost *or other discretionary county revenue sources*. This change allows the policy to apply for various types of discretionary revenue sources, including TOT, Redevelopment & Revitalization funds, etc.
- Once fire services is receiving 8% of Proposition 172 funding, clarifies that the Board has discretion to allocate growth toward Probation.
- The language related to the FEMA Audit Reserve was updated to strike the reference to the 2017 wildfires and include an annual review of the fund reserve levels based on current FEMA reimbursements received, consistent with actions taken at the FY 2020-21 Budget Hearings.
- Adjusts language regarding the Reinvest and Revitalization (R&R) funds to remove reference to an outdated policy and to more clearly indicate that funds may be directed toward Board-identified needs, as has been done over the last several years.

# FINANCIAL POLICIES FOR FY 2021-22 BUDGET DEVELOPMENT

Annually, the Board of Supervisors/Board of Directors provide policy direction to guide the County Administrator in the development of the Recommended Budget. The policy document is organized into basic fiscal principles and general government accounting standards.

## BASIC FISCAL PRINCIPLES

### Balanced Budget and Fiscal Discipline

- The budget must balance resources with expenditure appropriations. The County must live within its own means and avoid disturbing other local jurisdictions' revenue sources to resolve its deficiencies. Furthermore, any deviation from a balanced budget is not permitted by the California State Government Code, which states: "In the recommended, adopted, and final budgets the funding sources shall equal the financing uses." (Government Code §29009).
- Per the State's County Budget Act, the Board of Supervisors must adopt a "statutorily" balanced budget; however, to ensure ongoing sustainability, the County of Sonoma should strive to adopt a "structurally" balanced budget. A budget is statutorily balanced when total estimated financing sources (beginning fund balance plus revenues) equal the total appropriation (expenditures plus ending fund balance). At no time shall spending in a given year exceed total current revenues plus any fund balance carryover from the prior year. A statutorily balanced budget utilizes beginning fund balance as a financing source. In contrast, a structurally balanced budget matches total ongoing expenditures to the annual estimated revenues. In a structurally balanced budget, beginning fund balance may not be used as a financing source for ongoing expenditures. As noted in the Long Range Planning section below, the County's goals are to maintain annual expenditure increases at a conservative growth rate, and to limit expenditures to anticipated annual revenues. Ongoing expenditures shall be provided based on sound anticipated ongoing revenue and not include "one-time" items such as capital outlay, projects, or temporary program funding. Sound anticipated ongoing revenue is recurring revenue, such as, taxes and fees. As part of the FY 2017-18 Budget Adoption, the Board established a new fiscal objective of reducing reliance on fund balance for operating purposes. Therefore, ~~the by-FY 2020-21-22 the recommended budget will align~~ annual operating expenditures with annual operating revenues.
- All County departments/agencies must, when directed by the County Administrator, submit recommended options for reducing their net county costs and/or other discretionary county revenue sources as part of their annual budget submittal. These reduction options will be the primary source for balancing the County Administrator's recommended budget as submitted to the Board of Supervisors during difficult financial times. Reduction options will be accompanied by each department's analysis of the impact on services. Depending upon state budgetary impacts on Sonoma County, additional reductions may be requested from the County departments.
- Mid-year and third quarter reports of actual revenues and expenditures, with projections for the remainder of the year compared to revised budget, will be submitted by departments to the County Administrator, and on to the Board of Supervisors with recommendations, if necessary, for current year budget adjustments.
- ~~In response to declining property tax and other revenues resulting from the "Great Recession", the County had been operating under a Board of Supervisors approved hiring freeze, which required the County Administrator's approval for filling any permanent or extra-help vacant positions. The hiring freeze policy is effective for FY 2020-21. In addition, a~~ All positions held vacant for 12 months or more will be reviewed by the

County Administrator and deleted as part of the annual recommended budget unless maintenancemaintaining allocation is found to be justified.

### Long Range Planning

- Recognizing cyclical economic downturns will occur in the future, and to maintain fiscal sustainability, program budgets will not be automatically restored as a result of fiscal recovery and/or discretionary revenue growth. Instead, a review of the current public needs compared to efficiencies implemented must be completed before program and/or service restoration or expansion is considered. Departments may make restoration requests through the “add-back” process, and service/program expansion requests are made through the “program change request” process.
- Annual budgets will not be increased or changed to the point that ongoing operating costs become overly reliant on one-time or cyclical, unreliable revenues.
- Annual budgets will be compiled with long-term sustainability in mind to operate within available ongoing revenues, except as part of a Board of Supervisors approved plan in response to unilateral state budgeting actions that may include reducing costs over a specified number of years.
- Proposed new services, public facilities, significant infrastructure and system changes, and major strategy changes should/will be analyzed for their long term impacts on operations, funding, liability and maintenance before seeking Board of Supervisors approval. New programs or services will generally not be recommended unless they further Strategic Plan goals, objectives, or strategies; are provided with a reliable funding stream sufficient to finance their costs; and the Board of Supervisors can be assured the County can control both the quality and level of services provided.
- The County Administrator, in conjunction with the County Auditor-Controller, will submit a 5 year, multi-year financial projection and solicit budget policy direction prior to compiling the recommended budget.
- One-time funding sources (i.e. fund balance, cyclical increases to revenues, grants) will be used to fund one-time expenditures (i.e. fixed assets, infrastructure, grant programs, Economic Uncertainty Reserves, and special one-time needs programs). An exception to this policy will be that, if it is necessary to ~~when~~ reducing ongoing costs in accordance with a Board of Supervisors approved multi-year plan to reach a new reduced ongoing financing base, one-time sources may be used to more gradually right size the organization’s budget to the new, reduced funding available, as a result of state budgetary action. This plan will be called out separately in the budget message.
- The County and other Government Agencies governed by the Board of Supervisors support the funding of the employee retirement system each year at a ratio of between 95%-105% actuarial assets to liabilities. The County Administrator shall work with the Retirement System Administrator to develop a forecast of financing required for the County (and other Government Agencies governed by the Board of Supervisors) and will include options to achieve the desired funding levels along with each recommended budget.
- In order to further the Board’s pension reform goals, the County will implement an ongoing, structured approach for pre-paying unfunded pension liabilities on an annual basis. Effective Fiscal Year 2019-20 a baseline annual pre-payment contribution equivalent to 0.5% of pensionable payroll will be made (above and beyond the required employer contribution rate). In order to maximize employer cost avoidance as a result of pension discount costs, the pre-payment will be applied to the longest outstanding layers of the County’s share of Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability, as determined by annual actuarial valuations of the Sonoma County Employees’ Retirement Association. In addition, the Board will consider use of available one-time funding to make additional pre-payments as funding is available.
- In order to avoid significant increases in deferred maintenance costs for County facilities, the Board of Supervisors will appropriate, for a 5 year period commencing with FY 2017-18, forty percent (40%) of all new property tax growth—~~which—, which~~ is above the percentage growth needed to keep up with inflation for existing levels of General Fund services assumed in the Adopted budget—to the Capital Projects Budget to be used towards addressing deferred maintenance of County facilities.

### Expenditure Management and Control

- Sonoma County, in conjunction with employee groups, will consider temporary salary and benefit cost saving programs (e.g. Mandatory Time Off, Voluntary Time Off) in lieu of service reductions or layoffs when the fiscal problem is of a temporary nature where one can reasonably predict when the fiscal problem will end.
- Federal and state program reductions will not be backfilled with County discretionary revenues except by Board of Supervisors direction. The Board of Supervisors typically does not backfill these programs due to their sheer size and magnitude on the County's financial position.
- Board policy direction is required prior to changing one-time expenses into ongoing expenses. In addition, departments will not engage in internal cost shifting to the County General Fund.

### Treasury Management

- Other than amounts held with trustees under bond indenture or other restrictive agreements, the County's cash and investments shall be invested by the County Treasurer. The Treasury Oversight Committee has regulatory oversight for all monies deposited in the Treasury Pool. Such amounts are invested in accordance with investment policy guidelines established by the County Treasurer and reviewed by the Board of Supervisors. The objectives of the policy are, in order of priority, safety of principal, liquidity, and yield. The policy addresses the soundness of financial institutions in which the County will deposit funds, types of investment instruments as permitted by the California Government Code, and the percentage of the portfolio that may be invested in certain instruments with longer terms to maturity.
- Debt is incurred for the purpose of spreading capital project costs to the years in which the improvement will benefit. Debt is also incurred to reduce future costs such as refinancing (pension obligation bonds, general obligation bonds, certificates of participation) at lower interest rates.
- Sonoma County will not exceed its legal maximum debt amount. This amount is calculated annually based on 2% of the County's total assessed valuation. Sonoma County currently has no debt applicable to the legal maximum debt, leaving a 100% debt margin.
- Debt issuance and management is also subject to a separate set of policies established by the Board of Supervisors and available from the Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector's office.

### Revenue Management

- Sonoma County will continue to advocate for more discretion over its revenue sources and to diversify and maximize discretionary revenue sources in order to resist state erosion to local revenues and improve the County's ability to manage individual revenue fluctuations.
- Programs financed by charges for services, fees, grants, and special revenue fund sources shall pay their full and fair share of all direct and indirect costs to the extent feasible and legally permitted. ~~Including which will include~~ cost recovery towards future assets and/or system replacement.
- Departments requesting new or increased revenues from fees, permits and user charges shall submit these requests to the Board of Supervisors for consideration during the Board's annual fee hearing process, ~~or in a stand-alone Board item at a separate hearing~~. Requested fee increases shall include annual service improvement plans to identify efficiency and productivity measures taken or planned to minimize the level of rate increases, while improving customer service. If permissible by law, fees and charges should cover all costs of the services provided, unless otherwise directed by the Board of Supervisors, to provide for public benefit.
- Staff will use conservative but defensible estimates for major revenue sources and not unduly anticipate changes in revenue trends.
- Proposition 172 Public Safety Distribution – Annually, the baseline growth shall be determined as the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers-San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose for the 12-month period ending the previous December 31. This will be applied to the prior year budget for each department that received funds in the previous fiscal year, to establish the new adjusted base. Growth will be any funds projected or received that exceed the adjusted base. Growth shall be split 50% fire services and 50% law enforcement, until the point in time that fire services is receiving 8% of the funding. At that point in time, ~~the Board may consider via Board action allocating growth will be allocated~~ in a similar manner until Probation reaches a desired share. ~~Otherwise and t~~hereafter, growth will be provided on a proportional basis and become the annual adjusted base. If there is a decline in funding (negative growth), this will be allocated proportionally using the current year adjusted base allocation ratios.

- Shared service contracts with other political jurisdictions should include full cost recovery for any portion of services provided by the County, including recovery of full future retirement costs of County employees who act as employees for the other jurisdiction, unless otherwise directed by the Board of Supervisors. Any contract being brought to the Board that does not achieve full cost recovery should be accompanied by specific information about what level of subsidy is being provided and a justification for doing so.

#### Minimum Fund Balance Policies

- Sonoma County will create and maintain a prudent level of financial resources to protect against the need to reduce service levels or raise taxes and fees due to temporary revenue shortfalls or unpredicted one-time expenditures. Funds will be assigned and balances will be maintained to finance anticipated future one-time expenditure needs and to allow time for the County to respond to major actions of the State of California that materially affect the County's financial position. Periodic review and updates of the County's Directory of Funds balances in excess of \$3 million, not including non-cash assets, as of prior fiscal year end, will be incorporated as part of the Board of Supervisors Budget Policy Workshop. Also, disposition of accumulated year-end fund balances will occur when there has been no activity in the past year and the County Administrator and Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector have identified them as no longer needed for their original purpose.
- **General Fund Reserve** – The Board will maintain a minimum level of unassigned General Fund Reserve balance equal to 1/12 (8.3%) or 1 month of annual General Fund revenues. Consistent with best practice recommendations from the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada, the County will strive to maintain a total unassigned General Fund Reserve balance equal to 1/6 or 2 months of annual General Fund operating revenues.
- **Replenishing General Fund Reserve**- Anytime the Board authorizes drawdown of Reserves, staff will present a re-payment schedule which shall include the amount of state/federal reimbursements expected to be received.
- **FEMA Audit Reserve** - ~~Specific to the 2017 wildfires~~† To ensure that the County has adequate resources set aside to pay for any claims that are deemed ineligible by the Office of Inspector General. Based on a preliminary risk assessment, staff recommends a reserve equal to 20% of total FEMA reimbursements. The FEMA Audit Reserve will be categorized as assigned fund balance for the funding source of each project. Annually the County Administrator and Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector will review FEMA reimbursements received and calculate the necessary reserve, including increases due to new funding received or decreases if funding is no longer at risk of being deemed ineligible. At budget hearings, staff will present the reserve adjustments to the Board of Supervisors and receive direction on the use of funds available due to a net decrease in the calculated reserve, if any.
- **Fund balance**, created as a result of actual revenue and expenditure deviations from the budget, will be used to achieve and maintain the County's fiscal goals.
- **Tax Loss Reserve Fund (TLRF)** shall maintain as a restricted reserve an amount equal to 2% of the levy. The County Administrator in conjunction with the Auditor-Controller-Treasurer-Tax Collector may recommend the use of funds in excess of the established reserve to the Board of Supervisors for the purpose of balancing the budget. In order to finance an additional one-time Roads Pavement preservation investment on November 3, 2015, the Board temporarily reduced the reserve target to 1.25% and will re-establish the 2% reserve from the future collection of penalties.
- **Tobacco Securitization** proceeds shall be maintained in two separate funds. The first shall contain the portion of the proceeds to be used only for capital improvements and shall be used for those improvements that exceed the normal level of repair and replacement needed to maintain County facilities with priority funding for improvements to the Veteran's Memorial Buildings and the completion of the Americans with Disabilities Act Transition projects. On the latter, funding will be available only AFTER all other funding sources have been exhausted. The second shall contain the portion of the proceeds that, once de-allocated, can be used for general government purposes. Given the one-time nature of these funds, the latter shall only be used for one-time investments as opposed to financing any on-going operating costs.
- **Refuse Franchise Fees** shall be accounted for in the same manner as other franchise fees in the County General Fund revenues. They shall be recorded in a separate account in order to ensure that any fund balance does not roll into County General Fund carryover balance at year-end so that the County can designate use of

the funds for solid waste obligations, roads infrastructure preservation, and other Board of Supervisors priorities. If used for road infrastructure preservation, these funds are not intended to supplant on-going County General Fund contributions nor are they intended to increase any external maintenance of effort requirements imposed by outside funding sources, but may be used to satisfy previously established maintenance of effort levels.

- **Tribal Development Impact Mitigation** funds shall be accounted for separately, so that when budgeting, only those monies received in the current year shall be relied upon for financing costs in the coming budget. The Board of Supervisors shall make a determination, as new tribal developments occur, on the best uses of these funds to mitigate impacts and maintain the high quality of life in surrounding or affected communities.
- **Health Services-Medical System Expansion** funds minimum reserve level is established at \$1 million. The Board of Supervisors recognized and confirmed the remainder of the fund balance will be spent in accordance with the Partnership Health Plan of California Memorandum of Understanding spending plan agreement. Health Services staff will coordinate with the County Administrator's Office and the Partnership Health Plan to review and update the spending plan as a part of the annual budget.
- **County Health Plan-Economic Uncertainty Reserve** is established based on actuarial valuation to cover unforeseen changes in expenditures and/or revenues, Human Resources staff will provide fund balance use recommendations as part of the annual recommended budget while maintaining a minimum level of economic uncertainty reserve consistent with Actuary's valuation and as recommended by the County Administrator.
- **Water Agency - Flood Zone 2A** (Petaluma) will maintain a minimum of 6 months of operating expenditures. Funds in excess of the minimum required may accumulate to address future capital needs as approved by the Board of Directors in the annual Capital Project Plan.
- **Water Agency - Water Transmission System** is to maintain a minimum of 3-4 months of operating expenditures. Funds in excess of the minimum required may accumulate to address future capital needs as approved by the Board of Directors in the annual Capital Project Plan.
- **Reinvest and Revitalization** funds accumulated from dissolved redevelopment project areas residual funds and asset liquidation distribution proceeds are segregated into a separate committed fund ~~for specific investment purposes guided by the Reinvest & Revitalization Funds Use Policy pending approval~~. Accumulated use of resources will be presented as part of the annual recommended budget. Funding should be considered first to continue or complete the public benefit originally intended by the former redevelopment project, second to benefit the community where the former project area was located, and third for economic development investments or other County needs as directed by the Board of Supervisors.
- **Roads** – One of the program's main sources of funding for maintenance services comes from gas tax. As a result of the frequent state formula allocation changes over the last five years, and to protect the County's General Fund resources, an operating reserve by way of year-end unrestricted fund balance equivalent to a minimum of 3 to 4 months of baseline operating expenses will be maintained within the Roads special revenue fund. The amount for FY 2014-15 was established at \$5,000,000 which will be reviewed periodically against annual baseline operating budget.

---

## GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The accounting policies of the County conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental entities. Noted below are several accounting policies considered in budget development.

### Fund Balance Classifications

Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements aim to improve the usefulness and understandability of governmental fund balance information. Presentation requirements provide clearly defined categories to make the nature and extent of the constraints placed on a government's fund balance more transparent. This requirement only impacts governmental fund types (General, Special Revenue, Capital Projects

and Debt Service). The following defines fund balance classifications and provides examples of fund balance amounts that would generally be reported within these classifications.

•**Non-Spendable Fund Balance** – Amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not spendable in form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. Examples include inventory, prepaid amounts, deposits, and any other amounts not expected to be converted to cash.

•**Restricted Fund Balance** – Amounts with constraints placed on use that are either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Several of ~~the County's~~ Special Revenue Funds and ~~the~~ Debt Service Funds have restricted fund balances.

•**Committed Fund Balance** – Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by ordinance or resolution of the County's highest decision-making authority (Board of Supervisors) and that remain binding unless removed by an equally binding action.

•**Assigned Fund Balance** – Amounts that are constrained by the County's intent to be used for specific purposes. The intent can be established by the County's highest level of decision-making authority (Board of Supervisors) or by a body or an official to which the Board has delegated the authority (i.e. County Administrator). The Board has delegated the authority to assign fund balance to the County Administrator. This is ~~also~~ the classification for the Capital Project Fund and a portion of the General Fund.

•**Unassigned Fund Balance** – The residual classification for the General Fund that includes amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other funds the unassigned classification is used only if the expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceed the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes (i.e. negative fund balance). The General Fund is the only governmental fund that should report a positive unassigned fund balance amount.

### Asset Inventory/Protection

Sonoma County will regularly assess the condition of its assets that support delivery of County services (i.e. public facilities, infrastructure, technology, vehicle fleet, etc.) and plan for their maintenance and eventual replacement.

Normal maintenance and repairs are charged to operations when incurred. Betterments and major improvements that significantly increase values, change capacities, or extend useful lives are capitalized.

Capital assets include land, land improvements, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, infrastructure (e.g. roads, bridges, sidewalks), and intangible assets (e.g. land easements and computer software). Assets purchased or constructed are reported at historical cost or at estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are valued at estimated acquisition value on the date of donation.

- Assets will be capitalized as summarized in the table below:

Capital Asset Type	Capitalization Threshold	Depreciation/Amortization Period
Land <del>and permanent easements</del>	All Costs	Non-Depreciable
Buildings <del>and Improvements</del>	\$25,000	15-50 Years
<del>Building Improvements</del>	<del>\$25,000</del>	<del>50 Years</del>
Infrastructure	\$100,000	25-50 Years
Software	\$25,000	3-10 Years
<del>Non-Amortizable Intangibles</del>	<del>\$All Costs</del>	<del>Non-Amortizable</del>
Machinery and Equipment	\$5,000- <del>\$25,000</del>	5- <del>15</del> Years

- Capital assets used in operations will be depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the capital lease period or their estimated useful lives.
- The Board of Supervisors requires all departments to certify a detailed listing of all fixed asset inventory within their possession no later than May 31 every year.
- Capital replacement funds will be used to accumulate financial resources for future replacement of assets that will be retired from service. In addition, when feasible, replacement funding contributions will be included in

applicable service charges from all system users. Specifically, the policy covers the following major system categories:

- ~~Building & Fixed Facilities - As part of the annual Capital Project Plan and no less than every 5 years, and guided by Comprehensive County Facilities Plan, the General Services Director will regularly assess and adjust funding requests for each facility. The funding contributions would be placed in separate funds for each set of facilities and managed by the assigned department or agency director in conjunction with the County Administrator. Contributions for these funds will be included in service charge rates (including outside partner agencies) and grant costs where feasible and would be prioritized for available discretionary funding in the annual budget process. Consideration will always be given to annual operational maintenance funding (as opposed to contributions for future major repairs) necessary to preserve health and safety and overall asset life. Project funding recommendations will follow the priority criteria in the current Administrative Policy 5-2 which [is available for review at: https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/CAO/Administrative-Policy-Manual/](https://sonomacounty.ca.gov/CAO/Administrative-Policy-Manual/). ~~includes:~~~~
  - a. ~~Required to meet compelling health, safety, legal or code compliance, a mandate of the Board of Supervisors, or a court order.~~
  - b. ~~Previously approved phases of a project, which are integral to completing its initial scope.~~
  - c. ~~Required to keep an existing building, facility, or complex operational. Provides measurable economic benefit or avoids economic loss to the County. Serves to maintain or improve infrastructure of the County as a general benefit to County operations and services.~~
  - d. ~~Alleviates constraints and impediments to effective public access and service such as improvements regarding space limitations or inefficient layout of space in County buildings or facilities, provisions for expanded or changed programs or services, or improvements to heating, ventilation or other work environment conditions.~~
  - e. ~~Improves the environmental quality or aesthetics of County facilities and complexes.~~
- Information Technology Assets
    - a. The policy directs the Director of Information Systems in conjunction with the County Administrator's office to develop a plan to replace system components with the infrastructure contribution funding stream and potential one-time contributions within the remaining useful life of each component. The policy also directs a full infrastructure valuation of the computer and telephone communication systems every 5 years.
    - b. The Public Safety radio infrastructure replacement review and funding request is the responsibility of the Sheriff's Office in conjunction with General Services, Information Systems, and the County Administrator.

### Fund Types Used by the County

#### Governmental Fund Types:

- **General Fund:** Accounts for all revenues and expenditures necessary to carry out basic governmental activities of the County that are not accounted for through other funds.
- **Special Revenue Funds:** A Special Revenue Fund accounts for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. Sonoma County Special Revenue Funds include: Human Services, Health and Sanitation, Open Space Special Tax Account, and Roads, among other funds.
- **Debt Service Funds:** Debt Service Funds are used to account for financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest.
- **Capital Projects Funds:** Capital Projects Funds account for financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets (other than those in Proprietary Fund Types).

#### Proprietary Fund Types

- **Enterprise Funds:** Enterprise Funds account for operations: (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the Board is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis are financed primarily

through user charges; or (b) where the Board has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and net income or loss is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.

### Internal Service Funds

- **Internal Service Funds:** Internal Service Funds (ISF) account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the County or other governmental units on a cost reimbursement basis. A common use of these fund types is to account for the County's self-insurance programs. The following describes the funding and budgeting methodologies the County uses for some of the self-insurance programs is described in the "Other Policies and Methodologies" section below.

### The Accounting Basis Used in the Budget

The budget is developed on a modified accrual basis for governmental fund types (General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service Funds, and Capital Project Funds), adjusted for encumbrance accounting. Appropriations for encumbrances are included and appropriations for expenditures against prior year encumbrances are excluded with the exception of Capital Project Funds.

Under the modified accrual basis, obligations are generally budgeted as expenses when incurred, while revenues are recognized when they become both measurable and available to finance current year obligations.

Proprietary fund types (e.g., Transit and Refuse) are budgeted on a full accrual basis. Not only are obligations are recognized when incurred, but and revenues are also recognized when they are incurred earned by or owed to the County.

~~The government wide, proprietary and investment trust fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the County gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include property and sales taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenues from property tax are recognized in the year for which the taxes are levied. Revenues from sales tax are recognized when the underlying transactions take place. Revenues from grants, entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.~~

~~For business type activities and enterprise funds, the County has elected under GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Property Fund Accounting, to apply applicable GASB pronouncements as well as any applicable pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Accounting Principles Board or any Accounting Research Bulletins issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.~~

---

## OTHER POLICIES AND METHODOLOGIES

Other policies and methodologies that may be helpful for understanding the County's budget:

### Budgetary Amendments

After the budget is adopted it becomes necessary to amend the budget from time to time. Department heads have the authority to amend budgets for changes within a category (e.g., Services & Supplies). County Administrator approval is required for adjustments between categories (e.g., Services & Supplies to Fixed Assets) or between program budgets within the department.

Budgetary amendments that change total revenues or appropriations for a department require Board of Supervisors approval. These include: (1) the appropriation of revenues not included in the adopted budget; (2) reductions to estimated revenues and related appropriations when it is determined that the revenues will not be received; (3) appropriation increases supported by use of available fund balance or Appropriations for Contingencies; and (4) the transfer of monies or appropriations from one fund or department to another.

#### **Use of General Fund Contingencies**

The County will commit a portion of the General Fund general purpose revenues as a Contingency Reserve to provide the Board of Supervisors: (1) for unforeseen events causing increased County costs during the fiscal year; (2) funding to invest one-time funds into potential opportunities that support the Board's Strategic Priorities; and (3) fee waivers. The Contingency Reserve should not be used to support recurring operating expenditures outside of the current fiscal year. Unless there is a justified unavoidable timing need, any decision to use Contingencies should only occur at the Board's annual budget hearing, and during mid-year budget updates

#### **Funding Methodology for Self-Insurance Program**

The following describes the funding and budgeting methodologies the County uses for some of the self-insurance programs.

The funding methodology for the workers' compensation and the liability insurance programs is designed to establish charges to departments to finance the current year costs at the 70% confidence level as estimated annually by an actuary. The Health ISF (county medical insurance plan) is funded based on actuarially determined trends in claims payments with the intent of maintaining a year-end fund balance equivalent to anticipated costs necessary to close out each year's activity and to cover expenses in excess of projected levels due to unexpected increases in the number of size of claims. For workers' compensation and liability insurance programs, cash reserves above and below the 70% confidence levels for outstanding liabilities for individual insurance funds are amortized on a rolling three-year basis, by decreasing or increasing rates by one-third of the difference, in accordance with Board policy. The rolling three-year amortization policy was implemented to: 1) alleviate large fluctuations in rates caused by changes in actuarial estimates or funding status; 2) facilitate long-term rate planning; and 3) provide consistent financial policy for the internal service funds.

For budgeting purposes, claims expense for the workers' compensation and liability funds are based on the actuary's estimated loss for the budget year at the 70% confidence level. In situations where this is not expected to provide sufficient appropriations to cover actual cash payments, additional funds are budgeted under Excess Claims Expense. Claims expense for the Health ISF is based on the actuary's estimated loss for the budget year.

At the time the budget is prepared, the total year-end outstanding liability for the budget year is not known. When this information becomes available from the actuary during the budget year, the change in the total outstanding liability is recorded to the budgeted ~~sub-object~~ account Accrued Benefits Adjustment in order to conform to accounting principles. This budgetary figure is used merely to designate cash reserves to cover the outstanding liability and does not represent a cash revenue or expenditure. The Accrued Benefit Adjustment for liability and workers' compensation is budgeted at 10% of the total liability. The accrued benefit adjustment for the County Health Plan is budgeted using the most recent 1-year trend and 10% of the total liability. The total liability is based on the prior year estimate of total liability projected forward using the most recent claims expense trend.

Within the ISF insurance funds, the budgetary information presented is not readily comparable on a year-to-year basis because expenditures and use of cash reserves are related to past years' claims experience, as well as the fiscal year for which the budget is presented. Claims payments fluctuate depending on year of settlement, rather than occurrence of the claim, so payments may be made in excess of a current year's expected claims costs. In addition, actuarial estimates of total liability may vary substantially from year to year, depending on claims history, population changes, legislation, and other factors.